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Our Museum in Action by Doreen DeBoth, Chair 

As summer moved quickly along, the BRHS 
was busy interacting with the public at various out-
door events. 

 D District Community 
Day was held in Riverside Park 
this year.  Visitors were amazed 
at our exhibit of  
antique tele-
phones, especially 
children who  
never saw a rota-
ry phone.  They 

had great fun dialing  all the various 
styles and colors. 

Many visitors stopped by our 
display of musical instruments at the Niagara Celtic  

Heritage Festival in September, including 
the reenactor pictured here. Folks also 
inquired about the Fenians and Erie Canal 
exhibits that were also on  
display. 
 The BRHS was also 

present for the Commodore John Barry 
Day Celebration in Black Rock 
on Saturday, September 28, 2019, as the 

Erie County Division 1 of the Ancient Or-

der of Hibernians celebrated Commodore John Barry 

Day at Tow Path Park.  Division President Kevin Laffer-

ty introduced Craig Speers, New York State AOH Dis-

trict Area 2 Director, who presented an enlightening 

talk on Barry and his important 

role in American history.  Born 

to sharecroppers in County 

Wexford, Ireland and honored 

by President Washington as 

the Navy’s first commissioned 

officer Commodore Barry (1745-1803) is recognized 

as the “Father of the U.S. Navy”.  Although he won his 

share of significant maritime victories during the 

American Revolution and afterwards, Barry is often  

overshadowed by his con-
temporary, naval com-
mander John Paul Jones.  
Not only was Barry his 
equal for nautical skills and 
daring, but he also exceeded 
Jones in his length of service 
(17 years) and his devotion 
to the nurturing of a permanent American Navy.  
The esteem in which Barry was held by his contem-
poraries can best be summarized by the words of 
his close friend and eulogist, signer of 
the Declaration of Independence, Dr. Benjamin 
Rush, who wrote: “He fought often and once bled in 
the cause of freedom, but his habits of War did not 
lessen in him the peaceful virtues which adorn pri-
vate life." 

  Visitors from the  U.S. 
Army Corps of Engineers 
stopped in this summer to 
check out our exhibits, includ-
ing the latest of antique hair 
implements for men and wom-
en.   You don’t 
want to miss this 
one as it will 
surely take you 
back in time to 
metal curlers, 
spoolies, curling 
irons, and hair 
dryers.  Gentlemen will  enjoy 
looking at safety and straight 

razors, shaving brushes and clippers.  Also in the 
museum window are some  Riverside Review ads 
for businesses that were on Tonawanda Street in 
the 1940’s.   
The collection is on 
loan from Daneen 
Woolstrum from Salon 
Daneen and contin-
ues through January 
2020. 
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New Acquisitions 

2020 Elmwood Avenue. Gone but not  
Forgotten by Rebecca Torres 

 
 The M. Wile building on Elmwood Ave-
nue, next to Home Depot, has been torn 
down and made into a large shovel-ready site. 
Before the business opened on Elmwood, it 
was originally the Curtiss Aeroplane & Motor 
Co. 
 M. Wile was a clothing manufacturer, 
with thousands of employees in Buffalo and 
Dunkirk. Mayer Wile, who came to America 
from his native Baden in the early 1860's, was 
a leading member of the German immigrant 
community. Wile began his clothing business 
in Buffalo in 1877. At a time when most men 
had their suits custom made by tailors, Wile 
pioneered the idea of ready-made, mass-
produced men's clothing. At first he went 
door to door, carrying with him a variety of 
garments in different materials, all with prices 
well below those of tailor made.  
 As the business continued to flourish, 
Wile moved several times to different loca-
tions. In 1924 he had a significant factory 
built. It was a state-of-the-art building termed 
a Daylight Factory. This was located at 77 
Goodell, near Oak Street, which was a pre-
dominately German neighborhood. This type 
of factory was a great improvement over for-
mer workplaces by way of fireproofing, 
lighting, and spaciousness.  
 Later the large building on Elmwood Av-
enue became the cloth-cutting division and 
company headquarters. In 1998, the sewing  

operations were relocated there from 
Goodell Street. Plans were subsequently 
made to put the Goodell Street building up 
for sale and a total of 800 workers were un-
der one roof at 2020 Elmwood.  
 For fifteen years, starting in 1969, 
Johnny Carson 
Apparel, Inc. 
sold suits and 
jackets which 
were made in 
Buffalo at M. 
Wile. Buffalo 
was the sole 
manufacturer of 
the Johnny Car-
son line. They 
were a top seller 
at Kleinhans 
Mens store, and 
the Riiverside 
Men’s Shop on 
Tonawanda & 
Ontario Streets in Riverside. 
 According to Buffalo Rising, reader J. 
Healey pointed out that the building, and the 
site, should be remembered as being of sig-
nificant historic importance as the Curtiss 
Wright factory. “This building was used for 
single engine fighter plane production during 
world war II and was largely run by women 
due to the war. Every Sunday they would shut 
down Hertel Avenue and use it for a runway 
to take the airplanes that were produced and 
fly them up to the Niagara Falls Air Force 
Base.”  
The building, once considered the largest 
such facility in the world, was the manufac-
turer of the JN-4 ‘Jenny’ bi-plane used for the 
war. 

M. Wile sign painted on metal in three pieces 
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The following article was written by Michele Graves, Exhibits/
Education Coordinator for the BRHS with contributions from Rick 
Jemison, Seneca Nation Planning Department; and William Butler, 
Board Member, BRHS.    
 

Confronting a Painful History: How a museum 
partnered with its Native Community to edu-
cate the public about an offensive place name 
  

 The history of the Seneca and other first people 
is an important chapter in the story of Black Rock. We 
recognize our role in telling this story to the new settlers 
of Black Rock and preserving the history of the Seneca 
people who still live here.  

History of an island’s name 
 Though French explorers named the island sepa-
rating the Niagara River and the Black Rock Canal 
“Squaw Island” in 1679, the Seneca knew it as De-dyo-
we-no-guh-doh, or Divided Island, because it was divided 
by a marsh creek called Smuggler’s Run. The Seneca pre-
sented the island to agent and interpreter Captain Jas-
per Parrish in 1798, as a gift in acknowledgment of his 
services on their behalf. It later became a strategic loca-
tion during the War of 1812 for shipbuilding, troop land-
ings, and departures. It continued to be known as 
Squaw Island from 1679 until 2015. 

The road to change through education 
 In 2015, the Seneca Nation of New York State 
petitioned the City of Buffalo to change the name of the 
island, on the grounds that it was racist and derogatory 
toward Native American women. Elected officials then 
voted unanimously to change the island’s name 
to Ga’ni:go:yoh, or Unity Island. The City of Buffalo held 
a ceremony officially changing the name in 2015. At that 
point, the city abruptly removed a historical marker at 
the entrance to the island identifying it by its former 
name and moved it into storage. The BRHS asked to 
have it for the museum’s collection, which the city 
granted. As we pondered the best way to document the 
shameful history behind the name and at the same time 
to atone for it, we reached a decision. We began a fund 
-raising effort for a new marker. Our state and local 
elected officials contributed, but then a dilemma pre-
sented itself: How could we best engage the Seneca Na-
tion of Indians in a partnership with the BRHS and con-
tinue to develop a relationship that would be mutually 
beneficial? 

 The BRHS believed that the best way would 
be through an educational information exchange with 
the Seneca Nation of Indians based around the offen-
sive historical marker. In the fall of 2016, we extended 
an invitation for a Nation representative to speak at 
the museum’s weekly speaker series. The topic was 
“How derogatory terminology can be devastating to 
whole nations of people.” Rick Jemison, Councilor of 
the Seneca Nation of Indians, presented before a 
packed audience at the museum. For his talk, he 
chose to showcase beautiful wampum belts, and ex-
plain how they symbolized unity among different peo-

ples, as handed down 
in Seneca teachings. 
The designs of purple 
and white shell beads 
on the wampum belts 
record the laws of the 
Haudenosaunee, oral 
tradition used for cer-
emonies, and im-
portant agreements 
between Native na-

tions, and later between the Haudenosaunee Confed-
eracy and Europeans settlers and the United States. 
 Mr. Jemison went on to explain that the 
Seneca people have the highest regard for women, 
as they are the lineal descent of the Haudeno-
saunee. 
  According to the Great Law, Native women 
owned the land and the soil. They had the power to 
call councils, choose and depose chiefs, and make 
or stop war. However, their status was not accept-
ed by Euro-American males, who refused to deal 
with Native women as leaders. They viewed Native 
women as slaves and used disrespectful racist slurs 
to describe them. Mr. Jemison stated that “squaw” 
was a racist slur used against Native women to ste-
reotype them as a group. The use perpetuated a 
negative inference of Native women. For that rea-
son, he said, the island’s old name was insensitive 
and outdated, and needed to be changed to correct 
an injustice too long inflicted upon Native women.  
Mr. Jemison’s talk drew Seneca members who had 
come to the museum for the first time.  
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1902 Niagara Street  

Buffalo, New York, 14207 

Fall Hours  
October—December 

Tuesday.Thursday & Friday  11– 3 

   Find us online  

The BRHS 
Seeks Volunteers   

Your interest and/or love of  
history are the best reasons to volun-

teer! Students, seniors and 
everyone in-between are welcome to 
volunteer in various areas of interest. 

Every volunteer can make a differ-
ence. To volunteer, contact us via 

email on our website or call  
716-510-4007.  

Artifact Donations 
We continue to seek items and pho-
tos that tell the story and history of 
our area.   Please call to set up an 

appointment or discuss your finds.  
(call 716-220-7593).  

 “This piece originally appeared on the American Alliance 
of Museums website on July 31, 2019."  

To complement his message and celebrate National Native American Her-
itage month, a Native American history exhibit was on display at the  
museum. He previewed the display and discussed with the staff what  
visitors should take away about stereotyping of Indians (e.g. in Hollywood 
portrayals, advertising, and children’s toys). The display included both 
positive and negative aspects of how Native Americans were treated and 
depicted in history. He said that history should be told so that lessons can 
be learned from it. 

Funding the project  

The BRHS asked the Seneca Nation of Indians if they would be interested 
in helping to fund the new historical marker for the island, thinking that 
funding would come from the Seneca’s gambling casino interests. Instead, 
to our surprise, they conducted a door-to-door fundraising effort on the 
Nation territories and raised $500. This donation proved how vital it was 
to change the offensive marker. With the combination of these funds and 
those from elected officials, a new marker was ordered and installed at 
Unity Island. To celebrate the installation, we held a ceremony with Na-
tion leadership, elected officials, Black Rock Historical Society, and mem-
bers of the Seneca community in attendance. Outgoing Nation President 
Maurice John, standing alongside newly elected President Todd Gates, 
spoke about the power of collaboration and the importance to the Seneca 
community of removing language biased against Native women.  

The future 
 We made the hard decision to 
have the original historical marker 
mounted and put on display at the muse-
um with a plaque describing how the 
name Squaw Island was a shameful part 
of history. It will tell the story of how the 
BRHS, in collaboration with the Seneca 

community, changed the marker to its new 
name and thus created new history. 
 
 
 

Seneca Councilor Rick Jemison, Seneca 
President Todd Gates, former Seneca 
President John, Seneca Nation Women 
Jodi Lynn Maracle and Arlene Bova, 
Doreen DeBoth-Chair , BRHS and 
Michele Graves-BRHS and Dina Lu Por-
ter, Seneca Nation.  

Don’t miss these great topics: 

Fall Speaker Series now in 
Progress 

Devan 
Lawton 
and the 
history of 
Railroads 
began this 
fall’s 
speaker 

series and is shown here 
with a metal suitcase used 
by workers in the 1930’s.   

Welcome New Members 
Rebecca Knisley 

Thank You for Renewing Your Membership 
and Donation 
Ruth Hawthorn  
Warren Glover  

Thank you Artifact Donors 
James Lee 
Marilyn McKenzie 
Generation Antique & Collectibles 
John Dudek 


